96638-9

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/12/2018 4:12 PM

No. 76422-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS - DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent v.

HECTOR TALAVERA, Appellant

APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MAZZONE LAW FIRM, PLLC Peter Mazzone, WSBA 25262 James Herr, WSBA 49811 Attorney for Appellant 3002 Colby Avenue, Suite 302 (425) 259-4989 -phone (425) 259-5994 - fax

A. Identity of the Petitioner

The Petitioner is Hector Talavera.

B. Decision Below

On November 13, 2018, the Court of Appeals, Division One affirmed Hector Talavera's jury convictions for first degree rape of a child and first degree child molestation in an unpublished opinion, No. 76422-5-I (herein after referred to as "the opinion below"). The opinion is included in Appendix 1.

Appellant submits this timely motion for discretionary review to the honorable Supreme Court of the State of Washington.

C. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. In a retrial after the first jury failed to return a verdict, should counsel's performance be presumptively prejudicial when counsel failed to prepare transcripts for impeachment of the key witness?
- 2. In a retrial after the first jury failed to return a verdict, should prejudice be presumed when the key witness' testimony changes and is not impeached?

D. Statement of the Case

Appellant Hector Hugo Talavera was charged by a five count amended information with the following crimes, alleged to have occurred sometime between January 24, 2007 and January 23, 2010: one count of first degree rape of a child and four counts of first degree child molestation. CP 232-234. All counts alleged the same victim, M.H.S., Mr. Talavera's cousin. Mr. Talavera was tried twice on these allegations. The first trial began on September 20, 2016 and ended six days later in a mistrial, with the jury hung on all counts. CP 199-200. During the following months, Mr. Talavera's trial counsel failed to obtain transcripts of the State's witnesses' testimony from the first trial. See VROP 490-93. Mr. Talavera's second trial began on December 12, 2016 and ended just three days later in guilty verdicts on all counts. CP 152-156. The sentencing court imposed an indeterminate sentence of 280 months to life on Count 1 and 198 months to life on Counts 2-5. CP 10-26. Mr. Talavera filed a timely appeal. CP 9.

M.H.S., a 17 year old female, testified that she and her immediate family lived with Mr. Talavera and other extended family members for a period of time between 2009 and 2011. VROP 367-68, 373, 463. At the time, M.H.S. shared a bedroom with her sister, State's witness Kimberly Hernandez. VROP 369. M.H.S. testified that she was molested seven to ten years earlier by her cousin, Hector Talavera. VROP 376-379. The State offered no physical evidence in support of M.H.S.'s allegations. Her testimony was often vague and her memories incomplete. E.g. VROP 378, 419.

In a case resting exclusively on her credibility, M.H.S.'s testimony and that of her sister substantially evolved on several key issues between the first and second trials. M.H.S testified that Mr. Talavera molested her during a "sleepover" with her sister Kimberly in Mr. Talavera's room when they all lived together. VROP 383-85. M.H.S.'s father, Aurelio Hernandez, contradicted M.H.S.'s testimony about the "sleepover," testifying that M.H.S and Kimberly "never" slept in Mr. Talavera's room. VROP 470.

At both trials, Kimberly was the State's only other witness to the "sleepover." During the first trial, Kimberly testified that she did not recall any "sleepover" with M.H.S. and Mr. Talavera. VROP 490. At the second trial, Kimberly testified that she now remembered "the sleepover," and trial counsel attempted to impeach Kimberly regarding the inconstistency. VROP 490 (emphasis added). After a protracted discussion outside the presence of the jury, the Court ruled that defense counsel would not be able to impeach Kimberly with her prior inconsistent statement without a transcript of the statement. VROP 492.

While Mr. Talavera's trial counsel offered to "do a transcript . . . but it's just going to take longer," VROP 491, ultimately, no transcripts were used during the second trial. Trial counsel's failure to obtain transcripts directly prevented the convicting jury from learning that the only corroborating witness to the "sleepover," and one of the only corroborating witnesses to any aspect whatsoever of M.H.S.'s criminal allegations against Mr. Talavera, substantially changed her testimony.

M.H.S. testified that she began taking car trips with Mr. Talavera to the bakery when she was "around 9, 10" years old. VROP 378. She described being touched in the groin area, outside of her clothes, in the car while driving to the bakery. VROP 377. M.H.S.'s testimony about the frequency of this touching substantially evolved between the two trials. At the first trial, she testified she was touched in the car on approximately twenty occasions. VROP 77. At the second trial, she testified she was touched in the car on approximately ten occasions. VROP 378. Like Kimberly's evolving memory of the "sleepover," trial counsel failed to point out M.H.S.'s widely divergent estimates of the frequency of molestation to the convicting jury. None of the claims about touching in the car were corroborated by any other witnesses or physical evidence at either trial.

E. ARGUMENT

The right to a fair trial is guaranteed in the United States Constitution through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and the right to Counsel in the Sixth Amendment, as well as the Washington Constitution, article I, section 22. U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; State v. Lopez, 190 Wn.2d 104, 115, 410 P.3d 1117 (2018). The Washington Supreme Court has previously taken opportunities to delineate proper guidelines for criminal defense, as well as establish fundamental requirements for effective counsel. See, e.g., State v. Estes, 188 Wn.2d 450, 460, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017); In re Yung-Cheng Tsai, 183 Wn.2d 91, 102, 351 P.3d 138 (2015); CrRLJ 3.1 Standards for Indigent Defense. The citizens of Washington have a substantial interest in seeing a fair criminal justice system, which requires defendants to receive adequate, effective counsel. The Washington Supreme Court should accept review as this case addresses a significant question of law under both the U.S. and Washington Constitutions with the right to effective counsel, and also because the issue of having a fair criminal justice system is an ongoing issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

1. The Court Should Grant the Petition for Review to Clearly Establish Counsel's Duty to Obtain Transcripts for Impeachment of Key Witnesses

The first requirement for a successful claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is that counsel's performance was below a "minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct." *State v. Jones*, 183 Wn.2d 327, 339, 352 P.3d 776 (2015) (citing *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 663, 845 P.2d 289 (1993)). The Washington Supreme Court has regularly delineated basic boundaries of effective counsel in prior cases alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. *See, e.g., Lopez*, 190 Wn.2d at 123-24 (counsel's duty to conduct necessary trial preparation); *Estes*, 188 Wn.2d at 460 ("The duty to provide effective assistance includes the duty to research relevant statutes"); *Jones*, 183 Wn.2d at 339 (counsel's duty to investigate and interview witnesses); *Yung-Cheng*, 183 Wn.2d at 102 (counsel's duty to advise on immigration consequences for non-citizen defendant). The facts of Mr. Talavera's case highlight the need for the Supreme Court to further clarify counsel's duty to conduct necessary trial preparation.

The evidence against Talavera consisted solely of testimony of seven-to-ten-year-old recollections of past events—there was no physical evidence to support the convictions. The sole testimony that addressed the elements of the crime came from the victim, M.H.S. Her sister, Kimberly, testified to facts that supported M.H.S.'s testimony. "Cases involving alleged child sex abuse make the child's credibility "an inevitable, central

issue." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 933, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Here, the credibility of M.H.S., and her sister Kimberly (whose testimony was entered to support M.H.S.'s allegations) were not merely the central issue in the case—they were the only issue, and the defense was based upon discrediting their testimony.

Talavera's trial counsel did not conduct necessary trial preparation between his first and second trial—the decision not to acquire transcripts of the key witness' testimony belied an assumption that the key witness' testimony would not change between trials. That assumption was ultimately incorrect. "When no other defense was available in counsel's view, the failure to prepare for effective impeachment of the sole eyewitness based on a hunch that her testimony would not differ from the first trial was 'unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and ... was not sound strategy." Blackburn v. Foltz, 828 F.2d 1177, 1185 (6th Cir. 1987) (quoting Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 2588 (1986)) (alterations in original). The duty to prepare for trial includes preparing for cross examination, which necessarily entails preparing for effective impeachment. As this case demonstrates, there is generally no strategic reason for defense counsel to not request transcripts. And in cases where the credibility of the sole witness is the key issue in the case, the duty to prepare for trial includes a duty to acquire transcripts of prior testimony so as to prepare for impeachment.

Mr. Talavera's right to effective assistance of counsel was violated when his trial attorney failed to acquire transcripts of the key witnesses'

-6-

testimony from the previous trial, which thereby prevented effective impeachment. The basic requirements of effective assistance of counsel raise significant questions of constitutional law. Additionally, the public has a substantial interest in assuring the criminal justice system is operating fairly, and that defendants are adequately represented by counsel. The public has an interest both in ensuring the criminal justice system reaches a correct outcome, and also in ensuring it reaches a *final* outcome. Delineating basic boundaries of effective counsel provides attorneys with clarity and guidance, and would help diminish the likelihood of future reversals under claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. For both these reasons, the Court should grant review of Mr. Talavera's case to outline counsel's duty to prepare for cross examination and impeachment by acquiring transcripts of key witnesses' prior testimony.

2. The Court Should Grant the Petition for Review to Establish a Presumption of Prejudice When a Key Witness is Unimpeached Following a Mistrial for Failing to Return a Verdict

To succeed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show "a reasonable probability that 'but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different." *Estes*, 188 Wn.2d at 458 (quoting *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)). "Reasonable probability" is a lower standard than a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* (citing *Strickland v. Washington* 466 U.S. 668, 694 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)).

As previously stated, the sole evidence against Talavera was of

seven-to-ten-year-old recollections of past events from the victim, M.H.S. Her sister, Kimberly, testified to facts that supported M.H.S.'s testimony. The credibility of M.H.S. and her sister Kimberly was not only "an inevitable, central, issue," *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 933, it was the issue the entire defense was based upon. M.H.S.'s testimony changed after the first trial, alleging half of the molestation attempts she had previously claimed. While the Court of Appeals couched this as potentially beneficial to Talavera, Opinion Below at 9, the different outcomes between the first and second trial point to a different likelihood: the higher number of allegations was less credible to the jury, and so making fewer allegations in the second trial made M.H.S. appear more credible to the jury. Similarly, Kimberly's testimony changed at the second trial in a way to enhance the credibility of M.H.S., by supporting her claims of sleepovers happening in Talavera's room.

Where the testimonies of the key witnesses' change after the first trial in a manner that bolsters the credibility of the key witnesses, it is "more than a 'conceivable effect on the outcome" when the second trial results in a conviction. The difference in outcomes is obvious; this different outcome should entail a presumption that the different testimony (and enhanced credibility of that testimony) affected the verdict. *See*, *e.g.*, *Blackburn*, 828 at 1186 ("Far from being an open and shut case, the fact that the evidence against Blackburn was not overwhelming is clearly established by the fact that the jury was unable to reach a verdict at the first trial."). In cases such as this one—where the key witness's allegations change after a mistrial on

a hung jury, resulting in a conviction—the courts should presume the new, unimpeached testimony prejudiced the defendant, subject to rebuttal from the State. Given the Constitutional concerns regarding prejudice and ineffective assistance of counsel, the Supreme Court should accept review of Mr. Talavera's case to establish this presumption.

F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Talavera was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to obtain transcripts of key witnesses after his first trial ended with a hung jury. He was convicted, after his first jury failed to return a verdict, when the unimpeached witnesses changed their story. The deficient performance and resulting prejudice deprived Mr. Talavera of effective counsel, contrary to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution, as well as article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. In addition, Mr. Talavera's case presents an issue of public interest that necessitates clearer guidance from this Court to establish basic requirements for effective counsel. Accordingly, Mr. Talavera respectfully requests this court GRANT this petition for review.