FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/28/2019 1:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96638-9

IN THE SUPREM COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

HECTOR HUGO TALAVERA,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

> ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that review be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are set out in the Brief of Respondent.

III. ARGUMENT

APPLICATION OF THE WELL-ESTABLISHED INEFFECTIVENESS STANDARD DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

In determining whether the performance of defense counsel is constitutionally deficient, the United States Supreme Court has made it clear that there can be no set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct. "Any such set of rules would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 1052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Yet the petitioner asks this court to create such a rule: "the court should grant review of [this] case to outline counsel's duty to prepare for cross examination and impeachment by acquiring transcripts of key witnesses' prior testimony." P.R.V. at 7. Because any such blanket rule would be improper, the court should *not* grant review. The petitioner fails to recognize that a transcript is a doubleedged sword. If a transcript is available for the defense, it is also available for the prosecution. If it could be used to impeach, it could also be used to refresh. <u>See People v. Sanders</u>, 221 Cal. App. 3d 350, 370-71, 271 Cal. Rptr. 534 (1990); <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 666 S.W.2d 336, 340 (Tex. App. 1984). In this case, the danger of a transcript was particularly great. A young woman was testifying about events that occurred seven or more years before. There was a strong possibility that she might forget important details — or claim to forget to avoid testifying about embarrassing events. Without a transcript, the prosecutor would have little recourse. If a transcript existed, however, the prosecutor could if necessary use it as former testimony, which is admissible as substantive evidence. ER 804(b)(1).

The course adopted by defense counsel gained her the advantages of potential impeachment, while avoiding the risks. Since defense counsel handled both trials, she knew what answers the witnesses had previously given. She could cross-examine them about any inconsistencies. If the witnesses denied the inconsistency, she could then obtain a transcript of the relevant portions of the testimony. As defense counsel told the court, "If you

2

want me to have the transcript made, I can do that." 7 RP 492. At the same time, there was no transcript that the prosecution could use to prove its case if the witness failed to testify as anticipated.

The events at trial showed the value of this strategy. Defense counsel did cross-examine the victim's sister about the "sleepover." She got the witness to testify that she didn't "remember ever having a sleepover." 7 RP 495; see slip op. at 8-9. At the first trial, the witness had testified that there "probably could have been a time" that she spent the night in the defendant's room, but she didn't remember. 2 RP 163-64; see slip op. at 6. The impeachment was thus more effective without a transcript than it would have been with one.

Counsel likewise cross-examined the victim effectively about how many times she had been abused in the defendant's car. The cross-examination showed that she did not remember how often this occurred. It also showed that she could not remember *any* details of *any* incident. 6 RP 419. Counsel could reasonably decide that it would not be helpful for the jury to know that the victim had previously testified to a *larger* number of incidents. From such evidence, jurors might well conclude that the victim's fading

3

memory had caused her to *minimize* the extent of the abuse, not exaggerate it.

In short, there is no reason for this court to accept review to establish broad rules for the conduct of defense counsel. Such rules are inappropriate, both in general and under the facts of this case. This case presents a routine application of the wellestablished standard for ineffective assistance. There is neither any significant question of constitutional law nor issue of substantial public interest that would warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

IV. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.